**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

---

APPEAL FROM NEWBERRY COUNTY  
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS  
THE HONORABLE MILTON G. KIMPSON  
CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE

---

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2025-000737  
CIVIL ACTION NO. 2022-CP-36-00142

---

**RECEIVED**

**Nov 04 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

Donald A. Brown, Jr.,

**APPELLANT,**

versus

Johnnie L. Dickert, Rachel B. Dickert and  
Johnnie Kyle Dickert,

**RESPONDENTS.**

---

**FINAL APPELLANT'S BRIEF**

---

Carmen V. Ganjehsani (S.C. Bar No. 73515)  
RICHARDSON, PLOWDEN & ROBINSON, PA  
Post Office Drawer 7788  
Columbia, South Carolina 29202  
(803) 771-4400

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- I. The Trial Court erred in denying Appellant Brown an appurtenant prescriptive easement after failing as a matter of law to apply the presumption of adverse use after a claimant or his predecessors in title have enjoyed an easement openly, notoriously, continuously, and uninterruptedly for a period of twenty (20) years.
  
- II. The Trial Court erred in failing to enforce the agreement between Appellant Brown and the Respondents for the grant of an easement where there is clear evidence of an agreement between the parties and sufficient part performance of the agreement occurred.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

On April 12, 2022, Appellant Donald A. Brown, Jr. brought this action against Respondents Johnnie L. Dickert, Rachel B. Dickert, and Johnnie Kyle Dickert in the Court of Common Pleas for Newberry County to establish an appurtenant prescriptive easement across land owned by the Respondents and to enjoin the Respondents from interfering with or obstructing the use of such easement. [R.pp. 13-16; Compl.] The Respondents filed their Answer on June 9, 2022. [R.pp. 17-19; Answer.]

The case came before the Trial Court for a bench trial on July 11, 2024. The Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Jr. presided over a few preliminary matters with The Honorable Milton G. Kimpson also sitting at the bench. Judge Kimpson presided over the bench trial with the consent of the parties. [R.pp. 43-234; Tr.]

On March 24, 2025, Judge Kimpson issued an Order denying Appellant Brown's claim for a prescriptive easement. Judge Kimpson further denied Appellant Brown's motion to enforce an agreement under which the Respondents agreed to deed an easement across their property to Appellant Brown. [R.pp. 1-12; Order.] Appellant Brown filed and served his Notice of Appeal on April 16, 2025.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

On October 26, 2021, Appellant Brown purchased an approximate 97-acre tract of land (the “97-acre tract”) located in Newberry County from Brandon Nicole Gray Crumpton. [R.pp. 236-238; 133, l. 13 – 134, l. 20; Deed (Plaintiff’s Ex. 3); Tr. pp. 91, l. 13 - 92, l. 20.] The 97-acre tract is shown below as the tract of land labeled as TMS No. 385-2:



[R.pp. 235; 243; Aerial map (Plaintiff’s Ex. 2); see also Aerial map with stickers (Court Ex. 1).]

The 97-acre tract of land owned by Appellant Brown is adjacent on the western portion of the property to an approximate 158-acre tract of land (the “158-acre tract”) in

which Respondents Johnnie L. Dickert and Rachel B. Dickert own a life estate and for which Johnnie Kyle Dickert owns the remainder interest. The Respondents' 158-acre tract of land is shown above as TMS No. 330-7. [R.pp. 183, ll. 11-14; 203, ll. 10-18; 235; Tr. pp. 141, ll. 11-14; 161, ll. 10-18; Plaintiff's Ex. 2.]

Appellant Brown's 97-acre tract of land does not border a public road and is land-locked. [R.p. 235; Plaintiff's Ex 2.] Access to the 97-acre tract of land has been through a field road running through the 158-acre tract of land. [R.p. 235; Id. (marked in yellow on map).] Murray Gray testified at trial that he previously owned the 97-acre tract. [R.p. 58, ll. 4-5; Tr. p. 16, ll. 4-5.] Mr. Gray inherited the 97-acre tract from his mother in 1991. [R.pp. 58, l. 19 – 59, l. 3; Id. at pp. 16, l. 19 - 17, l. 3.]

Mr. Gray's mother inherited the 97-acre tract from Mr. Gray's grandfather who purchased the 97-acre tract around 1955. [R.pp. 59, l. 4-60, l. 2; Id. at pp. 17, l. 4 - 18, l. 2.] Mr. Gray's family has owned the 97-acre tract continuously since that time. [R.p. 60, ll. 3-5; Id. at p. 18, ll. 3-5.] The 97-acre tract was primarily used by the Gray family for timber. [R.p. 60, ll. 6-7; Id. at 18, ll. 6-7.] The Gray family had a company called the Murray Company which timbered the land. [R.pp. 59, l. 12; 60, ll. 18-21; Id. at pp. 17, l. 12; 18, ll. 18-21.]

To access the 97-acre tract of land, Mr. Gray's family used a dirt road on the 158-acre tract of land now owned by the Respondents. [R.pp. 60, l. 25 – 61, l. 6; 62, ll. 14-25; 63, ll. 8-14; 121, ll. 6-11; Id. at pp. 18, l. 25 - 19, l. 6; 20, ll. 14-25; 21, ll. 8-14; 79, ll. 6-11. ] The 158-acre tract was purchased by the Dickert family in 1973, although Respondent Johnnie Dickert did not inherit the 158-acre tract from his father until 2005. [R.p. 203, ll. 8-18; Id. at p. 161, ll. 8-18.]

Mr. Gray was not aware of any other manner to access the 97-acre tract by vehicle other than through the dirt road on the 158-acre tract. [R.pp. 61, ll. 11-13; 63, ll. 15-17; Id. at pp. 19, ll. 11-13; 21, ll. 15-17.] Mr. Gray testified that as far as he knew, since his grandfather purchased the 97-acre tract in 1955, his family had been using the access road on the 158-acre tract to reach the 97-acre tract. [R.p. 64, ll. 20-23; Id. at p. 22, ll. 20-23.] Mr. Gray further testified that he had personally been using the access road himself across the 158-acre tract to reach the 97-acre tract since the 1980s. [R.pp. 63, l. 22 – 64, l. 1; Id. at pp. 21, l. 22 - 22, l. 1.] He averred he had a right to access the 97-acre tract through the road on the 158-acre tract. [R.p. 64, ll. 2-4; Id. at p. 22, ll. 2-4.] Mr. Gray's family placed their own lock to which Mr. Gray had a key on a gate across the road on the 158-acre tract, while the Respondents' family had their own lock. The locks were placed to keep out third parties. [R.pp. 64, ll. 4-11; 67, ll. 2-4; 76, ll. 19-24; Id. at pp. 22, ll. 4-11; 25, ll. 2-4; 34, ll. 19-24.]

Mr. Gray at one point gave hunting rights to the 97-acre tract to a gentlemen and his son and gave them a key to the lock. [R.p. 64, ll. 11-13; Id. at p. 22, ll. 11-13.] Mr. Gray notified the Dickert family that the gentleman and his son would be hunting the 97-acre tract so that the Dickert family would be aware that someone was on the 97-acre tract hunting. [R.p. 64, ll. 13-19; Id. at p. 22, ll. 13-19.]

Mr. Gray testified that he did not believe he had to get the Dickert family's permission to use the dirt road on the 158-acre tract to access the 97-acre tract and that he had a right to use the road. [R.pp. 65, ll. 4-6, ll. 17-18; 76, ll. 16-18; Id. at pp. 23, ll. 4-6, ll. 17-18; 34, ll. 16-18.] Mr. Gray stated it was common knowledge that the Dickert family knew he was coming back and forth through the road on the 158-acre tract. [R.p. 65, ll. 7-

8; Id. at p. 23, ll. 7-8.] Mr. Gray was friends and good neighbors with the Dickert family, and he wanted to be a good neighbor and leave the road in good shape and fix any issues if the Dickert family ever called with any problems regarding Mr. Gray's use of the road. [R.pp. 64, l. 25 – 65, l. 14; Id. at pp. 22, l. 25 - 23, l. 14.] Mr. Gray was respectful of the Dickert family's property, but Mr. Gray nevertheless understood that he had an easement on and the right to use the road across the 158-acre property to reach his 97-acre tract. [R.pp. 76, ll. 14-18; 77, ll. 15-20; Id. at pp. 34, ll. 14-18; 35, ll. 15-20.]

Respondent Johnnie Dickert testified on behalf of the Respondents. His father and uncle owned the Dickert Lumber Company which purchased the 158-acre tract in 1973. [R.pp. 182, ll. 19-23; 200, ll. 11-17; Id. at pp. 140, ll. 19-23; 158, ll. 11-17.] Johnnie Dickert himself was not involved with the company. [R.p. 200, ll. 11-14; Id. at p. 158, ll. 11-14.] As previously noted, Johnnie Dickert did not actually come into possession of the 158-acre tract until 2005. [R.p. 203, ll. 8-18; Id. at p. 161, ll. 8-18.]

Mr. Gray acknowledged that his grandfather's company and the Dickert Lumber Company, both being in the lumber and timber business, had a working relationship and gentlemen's agreement whereby if one family could not fulfill an order, the other family would. [R.pp. 66, ll. 6-14; 184, ll. 13-22; Id. at pp. 24, ll. 6-14; 142, ll. 13-22.] While pursuant to the purported gentlemen's agreement Mr. Gray would correct any damage to the access road after using it, Mr. Gray still maintained his right to use the road across the 158-acre tract to reach the 97-acre tract. [R.pp. 65, ll. 4-18; 69, ll. 12-18; 77, l. 15 – 78, l. 2; 186, ll. 1-9; Id. at pp. 23, ll. 4-18; 27, ll. 12-18; 35, l. 15 – 36, l. 2; 144, ll. 1-9.]

Mr. Gray eventually sold the 97-acre tract to his daughter, who thereafter sold the tract to Appellant Brown. [R.pp. 58, ll. 6-18; 134, ll. 15-22; Id. at pp. 16, ll. 6-18; 92, ll.

15-22.] Mr. Gray testified that when Appellant Brown purchased the 97-acre tract from Mr. Gray's daughter, Mr. Gray represented to Appellant Brown that there was a right to access the 97-acre tract through the road across the 158-acre tract. [R.p. 78, ll. 3-8, ll. 17-19; Id. at p. 36, ll. 3-8, ll. 17-19.]

Michael Wise, a poultry farmer, testified at trial that he purchased an 88.53 acre tract (the "Wise property") identified as TMS No. 383-13 from Respondent Johnnie Dickert in 2014. This tract of land abuts Old Whitmire Highway and sits next to the 158-acre tract. [R.pp. 81, l. 11 – 82, l. 11; 83, ll. 1-11; 182, ll. 15-20; 235; Id. at pp. 39, l. 11 - 40, l. 11; 41, ll. 1-11; 141, ll. 15-20; Plaintiff's Ex. 2.] Behind the Wise property sits the 97-acre tract which was owned by Mr. Gray when Mr. Wise purchased his property. [R.p. 83, ll. 19-25; Tr. p. 41, ll. 19-25.]

Previously, the road across the 158-acre tract was accessed directly from Old Whitmire Highway, but when Mr. Wise purchased the 88.53 acre tract, he wanted to place chicken houses on the property. To do so, DHEC regulations required Mr. Wise to have a 400 foot buffer around his chicken houses, and he had to purchase an extra two acres of property from Respondent Johnnie Dickert. This resulted in a change of access to the 97-acre tract which was then reached by first entering the Wise property and then continuing on the road crossing the 158-acre tract. [R.pp. 81, l. 11 – 83, l. 18; 86, l. 9 – 88, l. 6; 100, ll. 23-24; 101, ll. 5-8; 183, l. 23 – 184, l. 7; 235; Id. at pp. 39, l. 11 - 41, l. 18; 44, l. 9 – 46, l. 6; 58, ll. 23-24; 59, ll. 5-8; 141, l. 23 - 142, l. 7; see Plaintiff's Ex. 2.] Mr. Wise further testified that he had to take down the Dickert gate in front of the old access entrance to the road across the 158-acre tract. [R.pp. 88, l. 24 – 89, l. 8; Tr. pp. 46, l. 24 - 47, l. 8.]

Mr. Wise confirmed that the 97-acre tract did not front any public highways or roads. He considered the 97-acre tract a landlocked property. [R.p. 84, ll. 1-5; Id. at p. 42, ll. 1-5.]

During the period of time that he owned his property, from 2014 to 2019 when he then sold it to Mike Longshore, Mr. Wise testified that he was at the property seven days a week and would see logging trucks accessing the 97-acre tract through the road crossing through the 158-acre tract. [R.pp. 84, l. 6 – 85, l. 23; Id. at pp. 42, l. 6 - 43, l. 23.] He was also familiar with hunters using the road to access the 97-acre tract. [R.p. 88, ll. 10-17; Id. at p. 46, ll. 10-17.] Mr. Wise testified he believed Mr. Gray had a right to access the 97-acre tract through the road. [R.pp. 88, ll. 7-9; 89, ll. 4-8; Id. at pp. 46, ll. 7-9; 47, ll. 4-8.]

Terry Longshore testified at trial that he had been familiar with the 97-acre tract since 1993. [R.pp. 112, ll. 12-8; 112, l. 24 – 113, l. 1; Id. at pp. 70, ll. 12-18; 70, l. 24 - 71, l. 1.] He hunted on the 97-acre tract. [R.pp. 113, ll. 2-4; 114, ll. 16-19; 117, ll. 10-14; Id. at pp. 71, ll. 2-4; 72, ll. 16-19; 75, ll. 10-14.] He also accessed the 97-acre tract through the road crossing the 158-acre tract. [R.pp. 116, ll. 5-20; 117, ll. 17-19; Id. at pp. 74, ll. 5-20; 75, ll. 17-19.] According to Mr. Longshore, the only way to reach the 97-acre tract was through the 158-acre property because of gullies 30-40 feet deep at other potential access points that could not be crossed with a vehicle. [R.pp. 117, l. 19 – 118, l. 5; Id. at pp. 75, l. 19 - 76, l. 5.]

Mr. Gray, who owned the 97-acre tract at the time, gave Mr. Longshore permission to use the road across the 158-acre tract and provided him a key to the Gray lock on the gate. Mr. Gray never told Mr. Longshore that he needed the Dickert family's permission to use the road, and Mr. Longshore never had to get the permission of the Dickert family

to use the road. Mr. Longshore relied solely upon Mr. Gray for road access. [R.pp. 118, ll. 6-11; 121, ll. 21-25; 123, ll. 8-13; Id. at pp. 76, ll. 6-11; 79, ll. 21-25; 81, ll. 8-13.] Mr. Gray told Mr. Longshore that the Gray family had a right of way across the access road on the 158-acre tract for years. [R.p. 123, ll. 3-4; Id. at p. 81, ll. 3-4.]

Mr. Longshore testified the Dickert family was aware that he was hunting on the 97-acre tract, and they never prevented him from crossing their property or accused him of trespassing. [R.p. 118, ll. 12-17; Id. at p. 76, ll. 12-17.] Even after Respondent Johnnie Dickert thought Mr. Longshore had caused damaged to the road, he did not deny Mr. Longshore access to the road. [R.pp. 125, l. 24 – 126, l. 26; Id. at pp. 83, l. 24 – 84, l. 25.]

Mr. Longshore was not aware of the Dickert family ever telling Mr. Gray or him that the access road could not be used to reach the 97-acre tract, and no one ever stopped Mr. Longshore from using the road to reach the 97-acre tract. He had been openly using the road since 1993. [R.p. 120, ll. 1-15; Id. at p. 78, ll. 1-15.] Mr. Longshore was respectful of the Dickert family property and tried not to cause any damage to it when crossing the road. [R.p. 119, ll. 15-25; Id. at p. 77, ll. 15-25.]

Appellant Brown testified that prior to his purchase of the 97-acre tract, he became familiar with the property because the company he worked for assisted Mr. Gray in managing his properties. The 97-acre tract was one of the properties that he began managing for Mr. Gray in 2012 or 2013. [R.pp. 134, l. 25 – 135, l. 3, ll. 11-12; Id. at pp. 92, l. 25 - 93, l. 3, ll. 11-12.] Appellant Brown testified 97-acre tract was used for timber harvesting. [R.p. 135, ll. 13-15; Id. at p. 93, ll. 13-15.] Appellant Brown himself also hunted the 97-acre tract. [R.p. 139, ll. 6-20; Id. at p. 97, ll. 6-20.]

Appellant Brown testified that access to the 97-acre tract was from Old Whitmire Highway, past the chicken houses through the Wise property, and then through the bulldozed, developed road over the 158-acre tract. [R.pp. 135, l. 22 – 136, l. 9; 137, ll. 1-3; Id. at p. 93, l. 22 - 94, l. 9; 95, ll. 1-3.] Mr. Gray never told Appellant Brown that he needed the Respondents' permission to cross the 158-acre tract to reach the 97-acre tract. [R.p. 137, ll. 4-7; Id. at p. 95, ll. 4-7.] Appellant Brown further testified that the Respondents never prevented him at that time from using their property to reach the 97-acre tract and were aware that he was using their property. [R.pp. 137, ll. 1-7; 143, l. 19 – 144, l. 7; 145, ll. 12-14; Id. at pp. 97, ll. 1-7; 101, l. 19 - 102, l. 7; 103, ll. 12-14.] He was never told by the Respondents or anyone else that he needed permission from the Respondents to use the access road. [R.p. 145, ll. 1-4; Id. at p. 103, ll. 1-4.]

Appellant Brown also testified that there was no other way to reach the 97-acre tract other than through the road crossing the 158-acre tract because deep gullies surrounded the property on other sides. [R.p. 137, ll. 15-23; Id. at p. 95, ll. 15-23.] He also cannot access the 97-acre tract through the chicken houses on the former Wise property because of DHEC regulations, and the US Forest Service touches another side of his property which he is not allowed to access. [R.p. 143, ll. 1-9; Id. at p. 101, ll. 1-9.]

Appellant Brown testified that he always left the road in good shape and would fix any areas damaged after using the road. [R.p. 138, ll. 13-25; Id. at p. 96, ll. 13-25.] He was respectful of the 158-acre tract when using it to reach his property. [R.pp. 140, l. 20 – 141, l. 1; Id. at pp. 98, l. 20 - 99, l. 1.] At one time, Respondent Johnnie Dickert was unhappy about some damage to the access road which Appellant Brown fixed, but even then,

Respondent Johnnie Dickert did not stop Appellant Brown from using the road. [R.p. 144, ll. 8-22; Id. at p. 102, ll. 8-22.]

After Appellant Brown purchased the 97-acre tract, the Respondents blocked his access to the road crossing the 158-acre with a locked gate. [R.pp. 141, l. 19 – 142, l. 12; Id. at pp. 99, l. 19 – 100, l. 12.] He has been locked out since the summer of 2021 and has not had access to get equipment to his property since then. [R.p. 142, ll. 9-12; Id. at p. 100, ll. 9-12.] Therefore, Appellant Brown had to file this lawsuit to restore access through the easement. [R.p. 142, ll. 15-19; Id. at p. 100, ll. 15-19.]

After the lawsuit was filed, Appellant Brown and the Respondents reached an agreement whereby the Respondents would deed a twenty (20) foot easement if Appellant Brown would survey, grade, ditch, and gravel a new access road from Old Whitmire Highway through the 158-acre tract to the existing road on the 158-acre tract. [See R.pp. 239-241; 147, l. 18 – 148, l. 14; 206, l. 1 – 208, l. 4; Ltr. dated May 27, 2022 (Defendants’ Ex. 6); Ltrs. dated December 21, 2022 (Defendants’ Exs. 7 and 8); Tr. pp. 105, l. 18 – 106, l. 14; 164, l. 1 - 166, l. 4.] Appellant Brown also agreed to put up a gate or other barrier to keep third parties off the property. [R.p. 148, ll. 2-7; Tr. p. 106, ll. 2-7.] The written offer from the Respondents did not specifically mention any requirement of a gate, and Appellant Brown understood that he only had to put up a barrier to keep third parties from entering the property. [R.pp. 239-240; 164, l. 18 – 165, l. 1; Defendants’ Exs. 6 and 7; Tr. pp. 122, l. 18 - 123, l. 1.]

Appellant Brown performed the work required of him pursuant to the parties’ agreement. [R.pp. 140, ll. 17-19; 148, ll. 7-8; Tr. pp. 98, ll. 17-19; 106, ll. 7-8.] Appellant Brown paid for an access easement survey which marked the new easement. [R.pp. 148, l.

19 – 149, l. 11; Id. at pp. 106, l. 19 -107, l. 11.] The only difference between the agreed upon easement and the previous access was that with the new easement, the entry point to the road crossing the 158-acre tract would be from Old Whitmire Highway instead of having to first enter through the former Wise property. [R.pp. 149, l. 15 – 150, l. 9; Tr. pp. 107, l. 15 - 108, l. 9.]

Appellant Brown spent around \$6,000.00 complying with the parties' agreement, including amounts paid for the survey, mulching, installation of piping and the building of the new road, cement, and a cable barrier. [R.pp. 150, ll. 8-14; 151, ll. 17-21; 153, ll. 23-25; 244-251; Id. at pp. 108, ll. 8-14; 109, ll. 17-21; 111, ll. 23-25; Invoices (Court Ex. 3).] He also graveled the road. [R.pp. 168, l. 25 – 171, l. 3; 252; Tr. pp. 126, l. 25 - 128, l. 3; Court's Ex. 4.] He did each thing required of the parties' agreement. [R.pp. 166, ll. 3-5, ll. 18-19; 170, ll. 23-25; Tr. pp. 124, ll. 3-5, ll. 18-19; 128, ll. 23-25.] The court was notified by the parties in July 2023 that the case had resolved. [R.pp. 52, ll. 8-10; 152, ll. 3-5; Id. at pp. 10, ll. 8-10; 110, ll. 3-5.]

Respondent Johnnie Dickert acknowledged that pursuant to the parties' agreement, that after Appellant Brown built the new road, Johnnie Dickert would contact Appellant Brown and let him know if there were any deficiencies to be corrected and provide Appellant Brown the opportunity to correct any such deficiencies. [R.pp. 207, l. 24 – 208, l. 11; Id. at pp. 165, l. 24 – 166, l. 11.]

Instead, Appellant Brown was sent a letter that he was in breach and he was provided no opportunity to correct any alleged deficiencies. [R.p. 242; Ltr. dated January 12, 2024 (Defendants' Ex. 9).] The Respondents' January 12, 2024 letter notified Appellant Brown that he was in breach of the agreement and therefore, the Respondents revoked

Appellant Brown's right to use the agreed upon easement after Appellant Brown had performed the required work. Respondent Johnnie Dickert was not satisfied with the cable barrier Appellant Brown had installed, although according to Appellant Brown, Johnnie Dickert never informed him a cable would be insufficient. [R.p. 170, ll. 10-12; Tr. p. 128, ll. 10-12.] The offer letter also did not require a gate. [R.pp. 239-240; Defendants' Exs. 6 and 7.] Johnnie Dickert also claimed that Appellant Brown allegedly interrupted a guest hunting on the 258-acre property even though Appellant Brown was not aware anyone was hunting and stayed on his own property. [R.p. 155, ll. 5-11; Tr. p. 113, ll. 5-11.] This was further unrelated to the agreement that an easement would be granted if Appellant Brown performed the required work.

Appellant Brown testified that he remains willing to correct any issues that the Respondents may have that are required pursuant to the parties' agreement. [R.p. 171, ll. 1-4; Id. at p. 129, ll. 1-4.]

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The determination of the existence of an easement is a question of fact in a law action, and the appellate court's scope of review is limited to the correction of errors of law. Simmons v. Berkeley Elec. Coop., Inc., 419 S.C. 223, 236, 797 S.E.2d 387, 394 (2016). The appellate court will not disturb the lower court's finding unless they lack evidentiary support. Id.

## ARGUMENT

- I. The Trial Court erred in denying Appellant Brown an appurtenant prescriptive easement after failing as a matter of law to apply the presumption of adverse use after a claimant or his predecessors in title have enjoyed an easement openly, notoriously, continuously, and uninterruptedly for a period of twenty (20) years.**

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