RECEIVED

OCT 30 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM NEWBERRY COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
Milton G. Kimpson, Circuit Court Judge

---

Civil Action No. 2022-CP-36-00142

---

Appellate Case No. 2025-000737

---

Donald A. Brown, Jr.,

Appellant,

v.

Johnnie L. Dickert, Rachel B. Dickert and  
Johnnie Kyle Dickert,

Respondent.

---

**RESPONDENT'S FINAL BRIEF**

---

BREHMER LAW FIRM, LLC  
Karl S. Brehmer  
Andrew C. Brehmer  
Post Office Box 7966  
Columbia, South Carolina 29202  
(803) 771-6600

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

October 29, 2025  
Columbia, South Carolina

**

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

### ARGUMENT

- I. The Trial Court did not err in denying Appellant Brown an appurtenant prescriptive easement, because use of the easement in question has been permissive since its inception without any assertion of right hostile to Respondents.**

Pursuant to *Braswell v. Amick*, a claimant seeking a prescriptive easement must prove by clear and convincing evidence that there must be (1) continued and uninterrupted use or enjoyment of the right for a period of twenty (20) years; (2) the identity of the easement; and (3) that the use is adverse under a claim of right. *Braswell v. Amick*, 442 S.C. 618, 626, 900 S.E.2d 475, 479 (Ct. App. 2024)(See also *Bundy v. Shirley*, 412 S.C. 292, 772 S.E.2d 163 (2015)). However, *Williamson v. Abbott* provides that:

[i]t is the well-settled rule that use by express or implied permission or license, no matter how long continued, cannot ripen into an easement by prescription, since user as of right, as distinguished from permissive user, is lacking, if permissive in its inception, such permissive character will continue of the same nature, and no adverse user can arise, until there is a distinct and positive assertion of a right hostile to the owner, and brought home to him.

*Williamson v. Abbott*, 107 S.C. 397, 93 S.E.2d 15 (1917). As such, permission provided by a property owner to a user over a subject parcel serves as a bar to a claimant seeking a prescriptive easement over the same. *Id.*

Here, the Appellant has failed to establish by clear and convincing evidence all of the elements required to have a prescriptive easement. As previously outlined, the former owner(s) of Appellant's 97-acre tract were permitted by Respondents and their ancestors to use the roadway on Respondents' 158-acre tract to access their property through a gentlemen's agreement, including the addition of a lock on the access gate for the Gray family. (R. pp. 67, lines 1-23; 69, lines 7-11; 69, lines 22-23; 70, lines 4-12; 71, lines 9-19; 97, lines 9-14). The Gray family did not claim an interest in the roadway, knew the roadway did not belong to the Gray family, knew the roadway belonged to Respondents and their family, and were permitted to use the roadway with Respondents' permission. (*Id.*)(See also R. pp. 186, lines 10-15; 191, lines 7-15). As such, the Respondents permitted use of the roadway by the Gray family from the 1970s when Respondents' ancestors purchased the 158-acre tract until 2021 when the 97-acre tract was sold to Appellant.

To the contrary, Appellant places substantial reliance on the holding of *Simmons v. Berkeley Elec. Cooperative, Inc.*, which provides that "the claimant must identify the thing enjoyed, and show his use has been open, notorious, continuous, uninterrupted, and **contrary to the true property owner's rights** for a period of twenty years." *Simmons v. Berkeley Elec. Cooperative, Inc.*, 419 S.C. 223, 233, 797 S.E.2d 387, 392 (2016)(emphasis added). Appellant has not and cannot demonstrate that the use by the Gray family of the roadway across Respondents' 158-acre tract was contrary to Respondents' rights. Instead, Respondents, through the Appellant's witnesses, established that the Gray family's use of the roadway was solely with the permission of Respondents. (R. pp. 71, lines 9-19; 97, lines 9-24). Under *Williamson*, the permission given by

the Respondents and their ancestors prevented any such claim that the easement over the roadway across the 158-acre tract could ripen to an easement by prescription, as the Gray family, at no point, asserted a distinct and positive assertion of right to use over the roadway against the interests of the Respondents. Therefore, Appellant has failed to prove any such adverse use under a claim of right in this matter for a period of twenty (20) years.

Further, the appellant contends that there was no permission because the Respondents did not take possession of the tract until 2005. (Appellant's Br. 17). This approach lacks legal and factual support. Regardless of when the Respondents took possession of the 158-acre tract, the Respondents' family has continuously owned and controlled the 158-acre tract since the 1970s. (R. pp. 202, line 20 – 203, line 9). Throughout the course of Respondents' and Respondents' ancestors' ownership of the 158-acre tract, Mr. Gray confirmed that his family's use of the roadway in question was specifically and solely allowed by the Respondents' permission. (R. p. 71, lines 9-17). As such, the use of this roadway was permissive from its inception and continued in the same nature throughout the course of the Gray family's ownership of the 97-acre tract. For this to become adverse to the Respondents, someone in the Gray family's chain of ownership had to repudiate permission and assert a hostile claim, bringing it home to the owner, as provided in *Williamson*. That never happened. (R. p. 71, lines 18-23). While the Appellant may argue that the Gray family had a lock on the gate that provided access to the roadway on the 158-acre tract to prove a claim of right, the shared lock arrangement between the Respondents and the Grays is consistent with permission and prudent control of the Respondents, not a claim of right. (R. p. 67, lines 1-8). As such, Respondents respectfully request that this Court not disturb the findings of the Trial Court after hearing the arguments, testimony, and evidence of the parties and uphold the

findings of the Trial Court in favor of Respondents based upon the well-settled law in the State of South Carolina.

**II. The Trial Court did not err in refusing to enforce an agreement between the Appellant and Respondents for the grant of an easement, because the parties did not comply with Rule 43(k) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, and substantial compliance is insufficient.**

Under *Ashfort Corp. v. Palmetto Const. Group*, the South Carolina Supreme Court has ruled that Rule 43(k) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure is applicable to settlement agreements, wherein Rule 43(k) provides:

No agreement between counsel affecting the proceedings in an action shall be binding unless reduced to the form of a consent order or written stipulation signed by counsel and entered in the record, **or** unless made in open court and noted upon the record, **or** reduced to writing and signed by the parties and their counsel. However, where the parties reach a settlement agreement during a mediation governed by the South Carolina Court-Annexed Alternative Dispute Resolution Rules and the settlement agreement involves payment by an insurer, the signature of counsel retained by an insurer on behalf of the Defendant(s) or third-party administrator shall suffice in place of the signature of the insured party. Settlement agreements shall be handled in accordance with Rule 41.1, SCRPC.

South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 43(k), SCRPC (emphasis added); *Ashfort Crop. v. Palmetto Const. Group*, 318 S.C. 492, 494, 458 S.E.2d 533, 534 (1995). Furthermore, the South Carolina Supreme Court addressed issues pertaining to Rule 43(k) in *South Carolina Human Affairs Commission v. Zeyi Chen*, wherein the Court held:

Where Rule 43(k) applies, this Court has held its terms are mandatory, which **precludes a party from turning to contract or equitable principles** (or counter public policy arguments) **to vitiate those terms. Substantial compliance is not sufficient.** The purpose of Rule 43(k) and its predecessors is the avoidance of uncertainty.

*S.C. Human Affairs Comm'n v. Zeyi Chen*, 430 S.C. 509, 521, 846 S.E.2d 861, 867 (2020)(emphasis added). In *S.C. Human Affairs Comm'n*, the South Carolina Human Affairs Commission reached a settlement with Chen to resolve the disputes in that matter; however, the

Defendant never executed a final agreement and withdrew its assent to the same. *Id.* As such, the Court found that the requirements of Rule 43(k) were not met and refused to enforce the settlement agreement.

Here, the Appellant and Respondents attempted to reach a resolution of the Appellants' complaints, wherein Respondents would grant an easement to Appellant to the roadway crossing the 158-acre tract and permit Appellant to use the same to access the 97-acre tract so long as Appellant laid three-inch gravel stone across the entire roadway on Respondents' property, Appellant would maintain the roadway, and Appellant would install a gate at the roadway entrance to prevent third-parties from trespassing. (R. p. 204, lines 9-15)(R. pp. 239-240). The parties also agreed that such agreement would be reduced to writing and signed once the requisite work was completed and satisfactory to the Respondents, thereby conforming to the requirements of Rule 43(k). (*Id.*). However, no such settlement agreement was ever reduced to a consent order or signed stipulation, nor was it detailed in open court such that the same could be noted upon the record, nor was it reduced to writing and signed by the parties and their respective counsel in compliance with Rule 43(k). Instead, Respondents withdrew their assent to any such settlement agreement and notified Appellant that the purported agreement was breached, that Appellant would not be granted an easement, and that no such agreement would be signed by Respondents. (R. p. 242).

Despite the same, Appellant asserts that a mere notice to the Trial Court in a roster meeting that the case was settled is sufficient to evidence the existence and enforceability of a purported settlement agreement. (Appellant's Br. 19)(*see also* R. p. 52, lines 8-10; 152, lines 3-5). As outlined in *Ashfort*, any notice or stipulation that advises the court that a case has settled but does not set forth the terms of the settlement does not support the purpose of Rule 43(k). *Ashfort*, 318 S.C. at 495, 458 S.E.2d at 535 (1995)(citing *Lyons Enter., Inc. v. Custer*, 168 Ariz. 439, 814 P.2d

780 (Ariz. Ct. App. 1991). Therefore, this notice does not conform to the requirements of Rule 43(k).

Alternatively, Appellant argues that he undertook to perform work and other activities on the roadway crossing the 158-acre tract pursuant to his understanding of a purported settlement agreement and submitted receipts into evidence, totaling approximately Six Thousand and No/100 (\$6,000.00) Dollars. (Appellant's Br. 20)(*See also* R. pp. 150, lines 10-14; 151, lines 17-19; 244). To support such argument, Appellant analogizes to the Statute of Frauds and cites several cases that sound in contract and equitable principles; however, those legal theories have no place in this matter. (Appellant's Br. 19-21). *S.C. Human Affairs Comm 'n* clearly and unequivocally denounces any such arguments sounding in contract and equitable principles from matters governed by Rule 43(k). *S.C. Human Affairs Comm 'n*, 430 S.C. at 521, 846 S.E.2d at 867. The basis for this is that Rule 43(k) is a procedural rule governing litigation agreements, precisely as those alleged in this matter, and allowing any contractual or equitable theories as exceptions would nullify Rule 43(k).

Furthermore, substantial compliance, as argued by Appellant, is insufficient to warrant the enforcement of any purported settlement agreement. *S.C. Human Affairs Comm 'n*, 430 S.C. at 521, 846 S.E.2d at 867. As such, Appellant has blatantly disregarded and refuses to accept well-established South Carolina case authority on the issues discussed herein. The parties in this matter do not dispute that Rule 43(k) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure was not followed and Respondents rescinded their assent to any purported settlement agreement in this matter. (R. pp. 52, line 23 – 53, line 1)(R. p. 242). Therefore, the Respondents respectfully request that this Court not disturb the findings of the Trial Court after hearing the arguments, testimony, and evidence of the parties and uphold the findings of the Trial Court in favor of Respondents based upon the well-settled law in the State of South Carolina.

## CONCLUSION

Based on the arguments encompassed herein, the Respondents would respectfully show unto this Court that Appellant failed to prove the existence of a prescriptive easement by clear and convincing evidence, and failed to prove that a purported settlement agreement was executed in compliance with Rule 43(k) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. As such, the Respondents respectfully request that this Court not disturb the findings of the Trial Court and uphold the Trial Court's decisions in their entirety in favor of the Respondents.